**RECEIVED**

**Dec 15 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2023-001424

---

Wanda Whetstone

Appellant,

v.

State of South Carolina,  
Office of the Governor

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Mitchell J. Williams  
HARRIS, GRAVES & WILLIAMS,LLC  
2725 Devine Street  
PO Box 11566 (29211)  
Columbia, SC 29205  
(803) 799-2911  
Attorney for Appellant

**

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER FOR A GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY IN A CLAIM BROUGHT PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA TORT CLAIMS ACT WHEN THE APPELLANT HAD PREVIOUSLY ENTERED INTO A COVENANT NOT TO EXECUTE WITH THE INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYEE OF THE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY FOR THE SAME OCCURRENCE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Suit was filed in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas on March 18, 2021 against Respondent pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, hereinafter “SCTCA”, for the tortious acts of its employee, Karen Campbell. Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss on April 16, 2021 claiming Campbell was not acting within the course and scope of her employment at the time of the wreck. After reviewing affidavits and hearing arguments on the Motion to Dismiss the Circuit Court ruled that a factual dispute existed and denied respondent’s Motion to Dismiss.

Respondent then filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 22-23.) and Memorandum In Support (R. pp. 24-33.), on January 18, 2023, claiming that the Covenant Not to Execute (R. p. 46, p. 58.) entered between Appellant, Karen Campbell and USAA extinguishes any claim against Respondent based on a theory of vicarious liability. On July 20, 2023, Appellant filed a Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 34-39.)

On July 25, 2023, Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment was heard before the Honorable William A. McKinnon. Judge McKinnon granted Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment finding that based on South Carolina common law, the executed Covenant Not To Execute, Policy Release, and Settlement Agreement (R. p 46, p. 58.) Appellant entered into with the employee Ms. Campbell, operates as a release of the employer, the Office of the Governor, who is only derivatively liable. On July 26, 2023, the Order granting Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 2-10.) was filed with the Richland County Clerk of Court.

On August 2, 2023, Appellant timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration. (R. pp. 40-46.) Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration was denied on a Form 4 Order filed August 8, 2023. (R.

pp. 11-14.) Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal (R. p. 61.) on August 30, 2023 and served the Notice upon Respondent on September 1, 2023. The Appellant hereby files this brief in support of that Appeal.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“An appellate court reviews a motion for summary judgment using the same standard employed by the circuit court.” Progressive Direct Ins. Co. v. Groves, 438 S.C. 26, 31, 882 S. E. 2d 464 (S.C. 2022) citing Trynum v. Scavens, 416 S.C. 197, 201, 786 S.E. 2d 115, 117 (2016). “Summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Montgomery v. CSX Transport, Inc. 376 S.C. 37, 47 656 S.E. 2d 20, 25 (2008).

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On April 23, 2019 Appellant, Wanda Whetstone, was involved in a vehicle collision in the 5000 Block of Trenholm Road in Richland County, SC. Appellant was traveling southbound on Trenholm Rd. when Karen Campbell, an employee of Respondent, failed to yield the right of way while turning left onto Trenholm Rd. out of a business driveway and collided with Appellant. This collision caused injuries and damages to Appellant.

Appellant filed a claim with USAA, the insurance carrier of Respondent's employee, Karen Campbell. Ms. Campbell's carrier offered the policy limits of \$100,000 which was accepted by Appellant through a document entitled "STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA COVENANT NOT TO EXECUTE, POLICY RELEASE, AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT". (R. p. 46, p. 58.) The Covenant Not to Execute specifically reads in part, "This Covenant is not intended to and does not release any claim that the undersigned may have against any other parties or that might be due from any other insurance company." Appellant also collected an additional \$50,000 of underinsured coverage from two first party policies of insurance.

Appellant believes that at the time and place in question, Karen Campbell was acting within the course and scope of her employment with the Office of the Governor. Pursuant to the "SCTCA", S.C. Code of Laws §15-78-10 et. seq., Respondent is responsible for the tortious acts of Ms. Campbell. As a result, this action was instituted on March 18, 2021 (R. pp. 15-17) against Respondent, Office of the Governor, seeking recovery for injuries sustained in the April 23, 2019 collision.

## ARGUMENT

**I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER FOR A GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY IN A CLAIM BROUGHT PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH CAROLINA TORT CLAIMS ACT WHEN THE APPELLANT HAD PREVIOUSLY ENTERED INTO A COVENANT NOT TO EXECUTE WITH THE INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYEE OF THE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY FOR THE SAME OCCURRENCE?**

Appellant made a claim, and resolved the claim, against Karen Campbell, an employee of Respondent, Office of Governor, by and through the employee's personal automobile insurance carrier, USAA. Respondent claims this extinguishes the Appellant's claim against Respondent. However, because this claim is brought pursuant to the "SCTCA" this claim is governed by the case law and statutes of the "SCTCA" which allows Appellant's claim to proceed. Therefore, the Court erred in granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Court entered an Order granting Summary Judgment (R. pp. 2-10.) on July 26, 2023. The basis of the Courts decision was *Andrade v. Johnson*, 345 S.C. 216, 546 S.E.2nd 665 (Ct. App. 2001) and a finding that the common law, created in *Andrade*, controlled. The Order distinguishes *Wade v. Berkeley County*, 348 S.C. 224, 559 S.E. 2d 586 (2002) by pointing to Respondent's argument that its Motion is based on the common law and not the "SCTCA". The Court notes; "it is the common law principles recognized in *Andrade* and not the statutory requirements of the Tort Claims Act that Defendant relies upon in its Motion." (R. p. 9 ¶2.) However, without the "SCTCA" there is no liability for any governmental entity and the "SCTCA" sets forth the liability, limitations and exclusions of the state and its political subdivisions. S.C Code Ann. §15-78-20(a) states: "It is declared to be the public policy of the State of South Carolina that the state, and its political subdivisions, are only liable for torts within the limitations of this chapter and in

accordance with the principles established herein.” The “SCTCA” controls all actions brought pursuant to the Act and all decisions interpreting the act apply including the decision in *Wade*.

One of the principles established within the “SCTCA” is that claims be brought against a governmental entity for a tortious act of its employee. In addition, the “SCTCA” states the agency or political subdivision must be substituted as the party defendant if the employee is individually named. S.C. Code Ann. §15-78-70(c). The “SCTCA” is devoid of any language allowing the state or its political subdivisions to pursue any indemnity from its employees or agents as found in *Andrade*.

Respondent claims, and the Court found, that Appellant’s resolution of a claim against an employee of Respondent extinguishes the vicarious liability claim against Respondent as employer. The Court found that the authority for the extinguishment of Respondent’s vicarious liability is *Andrade*. However, *Andrade* was not a case involving the “SCTCA”. *Andrade* was a case brought against a contractor who was not an employee of South Carolina Electric & Gas, hereinafter “SCE&G”, but had a tenuous connection with “SCE&G” through a promotional campaign. After signing a covenant not to sue with the contractor, the Plaintiff pursued a case against “SCE&G” for its vicarious liability through the contractor. The Court of Appeals ruled that the covenant not to sue entered into with the contractor also operated as a release of the principal when the principal is only derivatively liable.

In deciding *Andrade*, the Court pointed to common law that “in South Carolina, a master or principal only vicariously liable does not have an aliquot or proportional portion he or she ought to pay, but rather may shift the entire loss to the servant or agent actively responsible, and may recover in full from the servant” *Id.* at 225. As a result, the Court further points out that if the covenant released the servant, but not the master or principal, it would necessarily follow the

master or principal could seek indemnification from the servant/agent which would mean the covenant would “effectively strip the covenant not to sue of any real meaning”. *Id.* at 226.

*Andrade* is a case decided on the principle of indemnity and interpretation of the South Carolina Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act (hereinafter, “UCATA”) S.C. Code Ann. §15-38-10 to 70 (Supp. 2000). *Andrade* was not a case involving the “SCTCA”. It is important to note that neither indemnity nor the “UCATA” are applicable to the “SCTCA”.

The common law provided tort immunity to all governmental entities. It is only through the “SCTCA” that any right of claim exists in tort against governmental entities. The “SCTCA” is explicit in SC Code Ann. §15-78-70(c) that claims may be brought against the governmental entity for liability of an act of its employee. Further, the act does not provide for any indemnity for the governmental entity from their employees. This is a profound distinction from the one in *Andrade* relied upon by the Court.

*Andrade* also points to the “UCATA” in its decision by refusing to extend the “UCATA” to parties who are only vicariously liable. In addition, the “UCATA” expressly does not apply to governmental entities.

**§15-38-65 Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act not applicable to governmental entities:**

No payment shall be made from state appropriated funds or other public funds to satisfy claims or judgments against governmental entities or governmental employees acting within the scope of their official duties arising under the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act. The South Carolina Tort Claims Act is the exclusive and sole remedy for any tort committed by an employee of a governmental entity while acting within the scope of his official duty. The Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act shall not apply to governmental entities.

In other words, the “UCATA”, which was a significant basis of the *Andrade* decision, does not apply to the facts of the present case. As a result, the findings in *Andrade*, which is the bedrock of Respondent’s argument and the Court’s Order, do not apply to the facts in the present case. It is apparent that “SCTCA” claims are different with the mechanisms for dealing with claims, indemnity and vicarious liability compared to the common law controlling cases of private individuals and entities.

The present case is one where there is conflict between the holding in *Andrade* and that of *Wade*. The Court decided *Andrade* applied to Appellants claim against the Respondent as a result of the covenant not to execute entered between Appellant and Respondent’s employee. The proper decision is that *Wade* is controlling based upon the application of the “SCTCA” and that *Andrade* does not apply since it is not a decision based upon the unique framework of the “SCTCA”.

*Wade*, decided by our Supreme Court in 2002, is a case very similar to the facts in this matter. It should also be noted that *Wade* was decided subsequent to *Andrade* without mention of the *Andrade* decision or the vicarious liability holding in *Andrade*. In *Wade*, a claim was brought against a driver in an automobile wreck and the case against the driver was settled by way of a “Covenant Not to Execute”. The driver was then deleted as a Defendant and his employer, County of Berkeley, was named as a party Defendant claiming the County was liable under the provisions of the “SCTCA”. The County filed a Motion for Summary Judgment claiming the Covenant Not to Execute barred the tort action against the County. The Supreme Court found the Covenant was not a settlement within the “SCTCA”. The Court in *Wade* pointed to the “SCTCA”, S.C. Code §15-78-70(d) which provides:

A settlement or judgement in an action or settlement of a claim under this chapter constitutes a complete bar to any further action by the claimant against an

employee or governmental entity by reason of the same occurrence. [emphasis added]

The Court determined that “under this chapter” applied to either a “settlement or judgment in an action” and a “settlement of a claim” brought pursuant to the “SCTCA”. The Court stated, “to invoke the provision of §15-78-70(d), there must be a settlement or judgment in an action under the Act or a settlement of a claim under the Act.” *Id.* at 230.

The Court further reasons:

Even though Wade was aware he might have an action against County under the Act when he and Pierce (driver/employee) executed the covenant not to execute, no action had been initiated, nor had any claim been filed, against County. At the time of the settlement, Wade had only initiated an action against Pierce in his individual capacity, not against County as Pierce’s employer. Accordingly, at the time Wade and Pierce executed the settlement documents, there were no actions “under this chapter”. Wade and Pierce’s settlement did not invoke the provisions of 15-78-70(d) barring Wade from further action against the County.

*Id.* at 230.

As in *Wade*, the Appellant in this action was aware she may have a claim against Respondent when she executed the covenant with the Respondent’s employee, no action had been initiated against Respondent, nor had any claim been filed against Respondent. Appellant had only initiated a claim against employee and employee’s insurer in employee’s individual capacity, not against Respondent. Therefore, given the holding in *Wade*, Appellant’s covenant and settlement with USAA did not invoke the provisions of §15-78-70(d) thereby allowing Appellant’s claim against Respondent to proceed.

The Court in *Wade* went further to note the construction of §15-78-70(d) and its legislative history may not follow the intended policy of the “SCTCA”, but the Court is clear in ruling that:

As illustrated by the facts of this case, § 15-78-70(d) permits a plaintiff to maintain an action against a governmental employee in his individual capacity,

settle, and then pursue an action against the governmental employer for the tort of his employee allegedly committed while in the scope of employment. This result circumvents that policy of the Act which is to protect employees from personal liability for torts committed while acting within the scope of employment. Section 15-78-20(b) (Act is exclusive civil remedy available for tort committed by governmental employees). Nevertheless, our construction of the statute is limited by its legislative history.

*Id.* at 230-231

The basis of the Court’s Order Granting Summary Judgment (R. pp. 2-10.), Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 22-23.), and argument (R. pp. 24-33.) supporting the Motion is not based on the “SCTCA” which controls all aspects of claims against a governmental entity. Based upon the “SCTCA” and the rulings of the Courts interpreting the “SCTCA”, the Court erred in granting the Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

### CONCLUSION

When Appellant signed the covenant with USAA and Karen Campbell, employee of Office of Governor, it did not constitute a settlement under the “SCTCA”. Given the case and statutory law, Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment should have been denied.