RECEIVED

Dec 04 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001424

Case No. 2021-CP-40-01276

WANDA WHETSTONE,.....Appellant,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR,.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David A. Anderson
Carmen V. Ganjehsani
Hunter W. Adams
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN &
ROBINSON, P.A.
1900 Barnwell Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 771-4400

Thomas A. Limehouse, Jr.
Chief Legal Counsel
Wm. Grayson Lambert
Senior Litigation Counsel
Erica Wells Shedd
Deputy Legal Counsel

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

ARGUMENT

I. Whetstone’s settlement with Campbell means Whetstone cannot sue the Office under a *respondeat superior* theory.

At the outset, it’s important to be clear what this case is about—and what this case is not about. Whetstone’s sole claim against the Office is based on *respondeat superior* and vicarious liability. *See* R. pp. 15–17 (Compl.). In short, she claims that Campbell, who was employed by the Office and acting in the scope of her employment, was negligent, so the Office, as her principal, is liable for Campbell’s negligence. Whetstone does not allege that the Office was somehow independently negligent, such as for being negligent in supervising Campbell. *See, e.g., Brockington v. Pee Dee Mental Health Ctr.*, 315 S.C. 214, 217, 433 S.E.2d 16, 17 (Ct. App. 1993) (claims “based on *respondeat superior*” and “negligent supervision” are different).

With the scope of Whetstone’s claim in mind, turn next to what Whetstone does not argue on appeal: That the circuit court was wrong that the common-law rule is that the “settlement of a claim against an employee operates as an acquittal of the employer who is only derivatively liable.” R. p. 5 (Order 4) (internal quotation mark omitted). For good reason Whetstone does not go down this path. That rule is well established.

This Court has invoked and applied this rule. In *Andrade*, the Court recognized that the

“common law of this state provides that a covenant not to sue an employee operates as an acquittal of the employer who is only derivatively liable.” 345 S.C. at 226, 546 S.E.2d at 670. There, Andrade contracted with Johnson to install a new HVAC system in her home, after he had promoted being part of SCE&G’s quality-dealer program. *Id.* at 219–21, 546 S.E.2d at 667. Andrade settled with Johnson prior to trial and executed a covenant not to sue. *Id.* at 221, 546 S.E.2d at 667. The trial court granted SCE&G summary judgment on Johnson’s vicarious-liability claims. *Id.*, 546 S.E.2d at 668.

This Court affirmed. It explained that the “type of document used to discharge liability” was not the critical question. *Id.* at 224, 546 S.E.2d at 669. Rather, the inquiry had to focus on “the type of liability and the relationship *inter se* of the various allegedly liable parties.” *Id.* Was one party liable “*only* vicariously because of the negligence of another party” or was that party a “true joint tortfeasor[]” and thus “independently negligent toward the third party”? *Id.* This distinction went to the difference between indemnity (which is the right to shift an entire loss from one who is passively at fault to someone who is actively at fault) and contribution (which is the right to recover part of a loss from someone else who is actively at fault). *Id.* at 225, 546 S.E.2d at 670.

Under South Carolina law, the Court continued, a “principal only vicariously liable does not have an aliquot or proportional portion he or she ought to pay, *but rather may shift the entire loss* to the servant or agent actively responsible, and may recover in full from the servant.” *Id.* In Andrade’s case, if she could still sue SCE&G for derivative liability, SCE&G could subsequently seek indemnification from Johnson, which would “strip the covenant not to sue of any real meaning and result in . . . a corrosive circle of indemnity.”² *Id.* at 226, 546 S.E.2d at 670 (internal quotation

² Though the Supreme Court reversed *Andrade*, it did so on the distinct issue of whether SCE&G owed an independent duty to Andrade to ensure that Johnson properly installed the HVAC system. *See* 356 S.C. at 245–46, 588 S.E.2d at 592.

mark omitted).

Andrade is instructive in three ways here. *First*, this case is on all fours with *Andrade*. Like *Andrade*, Whetstone settled her claim against the primary tortfeasor. *See* R. p. 46 (Opp'n to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. A). Like *Andrade*, Whetstone asserted a claim against the primary tortfeasor's principal under a vicarious liability theory. *See* R. pp. 15–17 (Compl.). So like *Andrade*, Whetstone's settlement with the primary tortfeasor should “release[]” “the vicariously liable principal.” *Andrade*, 345 S.C. at 227, 546 S.E.2d at 670.

Second, *Andrade* represents a logically sound rule. Although *Andrade* recognized that there was some split of authority on this issue, *see* 345 S.C. at 223, 546 S.E.2d at 669, the weight of the authority is with the common-law rule that *Andrade* applied, *see, e.g., Gilbert v. Sycamore Mun. Hosp.*, 622 N.E.2d 788, 797 (Ill. 1993) (“any settlement between the agent and the plaintiff must also extinguish the principal's vicarious liability”); *Theophelis v. Lansing Gen. Hosp.*, 424 N.W.2d 478, 481 (Mich. 1988) (“At common law a valid release of an agent for tortious conduct operates to bar recovery against the principal on a theory of vicarious liability”); *Booth v. Gades*, 788 N.W.2d 701, 707 (Minn. 2010) (“The well-established common law rule is that the release of the agent releases the principal from vicarious liability.”); *J&J Timber Co. v. Broome*, 932 So. 2d 1, 7 (Miss. 2006) (“A majority of states have adopted the position that the release of a tortfeasor thereby releases the tortfeasor's principal for all claims of vicarious liability”); *Dickey v. Meier's Est.*, 197 N.W.2d 385, 388 (Neb. 1972) (“in a tort action based exclusively on the alleged negligence of an employee or agent, a valid release of that employee-agent releases the employer or principal from liability”); *L.C. v. R.P.*, 563 N.W.2d 799, 801 (N.D. 1997) (“the release of a servant for tortious acts also released the master from vicarious liability”); *Burke v. Webb Boats, Inc.*, 37 P.3d 811, 813 (Okla. 2001) (“where the servant was released, the plaintiff was not entitled

to recover from the master”); *Est. of Williams ex rel. Williams v. Vandenberg*, 620 N.W.2d 187, 191 (S.D. 2000) (“a release of an agent is a release of the principal even when the release contains an express reservation and where the claim is premised on the single act of the agent”); *see also Seaboard Air Line R. Co. v. Coastal Distrib. Co.*, 273 F. Supp. 340, 343 (D.S.C. 1967) (“a covenant not to sue, which ordinarily does not release another joint-tortfeasor from liability, does operate as a release of the master, liable only under respondeat superior, if given to the servant responsible”). Courts have consistently reached this conclusion because, as the *Andrade* Court reasoned, this conclusion ensures that a covenant not to sue (or a release, depending on its language) actually has an effect and the primary tortfeasor doesn’t end up having to pay for a judgment against the vicariously liable master as the result of indemnity.

Third, Andrade is much more than a case about the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, as Whetstone strains to portray it. *See* Br. of Appellant 7–8. The rule that this Court applied in *Andrade* was *not* any part of the UCATA. Rather, this Court carefully showed how the UCATA did not apply when a plaintiff settled with an agent but still had a vicarious-liability claim against the principal. *See* 345 S.C. at 224–27, 456 S.E.2d at 669–70. Thus, Whetstone cannot brush *Andrade* aside by calling it a UCATA case but this a Tort Claims Act case. *Andrade*, in fact, controls this case, and it confirms that the circuit court properly granted summary judgment to the Office.

II. Whetstone’s reliance on *Wade* is misplaced and her argument on the Tort Claims Act is mistaken.

Rather than attack the common-law rule on indemnity that served as the basis for the circuit court’s decision, Whetstone instead tries to shift the focus, insisting that she has brought this case under the Tort Claims Act, which does permit her to sue the Office for Campbell’s accident.

A. *Wade* does not control here.

Whetstone relies heavily on the Supreme Court’s decision in *Wade* on this front. *See* Br. of Appellant 8–10. At first glance, there may be a superficial appeal to that argument, given the factual similarities with *Wade* and this case. *Wade* involved a county employee who caused a car wreck, after which the plaintiff settled with the employee (and executed a covenant not to execute judgment) and then sued the county. *See* 348 S.C. at 226, 559 S.E.2d at 586–87.

The Supreme Court held that the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment to the county under section 15-78-70(d) of the Tort Claims Act because the settlement with the employee happened when no claim or action was pending against the county. *See id.* at 230, 559 S.E.2d at 589. Thus, the Court concluded, there was no settlement “under this chapter” to which section 15-78-70(d) could have been a “complete bar.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(d) (“A settlement or judgment in an action or a settlement of a claim under this chapter constitutes a complete bar to any further action by the claimant against an employee or governmental entity by reason of the same occurrence.”).

But a more careful analysis reveals why *Wade* doesn’t apply. That case examined whether section 15-78-70(d) barred a plaintiff’s claim against a public entity. But the Office did not move for summary judgment here under that section (or, for that matter, under any part of the Tort Claims Act). Instead, the Office sought summary judgment based on a common-law rule—a point that the circuit court aptly recognized. *See* R. p. 9 (Order 8). Thus, for whatever factual similarities *Wade* offers to this case, *Wade*’s legal analysis is irrelevant. There is not, as Whetstone posits, a “conflict between the holding[s]” in *Andrade* and *Wade*. Br. of Appellant 8. Nothing in the Supreme Court’s opinion in *Wade* even hints at, much less discusses, the common-law rule at issue here. And when an issue is “not . . . raised in briefs or argument nor discussed in the opinion of the Court,” the

“case is not a binding precedent on this point.” *United States v. L.A. Tucker Truck Lines, Inc.*, 344 U.S. 33, 38 (1952). *Wade* therefore does not answer whether the common-law rule in *Andrade* applies in a case brought under the Tort Claims Act.

To think about it another way, *Wade* does not address the common-law rule at issue in this case because the common-law rule was not the basis on which the county in *Wade* had moved for summary judgment. Thus, the Supreme Court had no reason to address the common-law rule because the “[a]ppellate courts in this state, like well-behaved children, do not speak unless spoken to and do not answer questions they are not asked.” *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 331 n.4, 730 S.E.2d 282, 286 n.4 (2012). Had the county moved for summary judgment under the common-law rule, perhaps the county would have prevailed.

B. The Tort Claims Act does not abrogate the common-law rule from *Andrade*.

The Tort Claims Act waives sovereign immunity in certain circumstances. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-20(b); *see also id.* § 15-78-40 (providing the scope of the waiver); *id.* § 15-78-60 (listing exceptions to the waiver). The Act provides “the exclusive civil remedy available for any tort committed by a governmental entity, its employees, or its agents.” *Id.* § 15-78-20(b).

For at least two reasons, the Tort Claims Act does not preclude a government entity from asserting *Andrade*’s common-law rule. *First*, notably missing from the Tort Claims Act is any specific discussion of *respondeat superior* or vicarious liability. The Act simply states that a government entity is “liable for [its] torts in the same manner and to the same extent as a private individual under like circumstances, subject to the limitations upon liability and damages, and exemptions from liability and damages, contained herein.” *Id.* § 15-78-40. The Tort Claims Act therefore gives a government entity the same benefit of “limitations upon liability and damages” and “exemptions from liability and damages” as any private plaintiff. A private plaintiff has the

benefit of the common-law rule that a settlement between the agent and the plaintiff also extinguishes the principal's vicarious liability. Thus, the Office can invoke that rule as well.

Confirming this result is the fact that “statutes in derogation of the common law are to be strictly construed.” *Grier v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc.*, 397 S.C. 532, 536, 725 S.E.2d 693, 696 (2012). The waiver in the Tort Claims Act “is limited,” *Proctor v. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 368 S.C. 279, 291, 628 S.E.2d 496, 502 (Ct. App. 2006), as that waiver “must be liberally construed in favor of limiting the liability of the State,” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-20(f). This background principle and statutory directive preclude expanding the Tort Claims Act to encompass some abrogation of common-law doctrines that are not even mentioned in the Act. As this Court has succinctly put it, “the Legislature clearly intended to limit government liability through the Tort Claims Act, and at no time did the Legislature intend government liability to exceed that of a private entity.” *Kerr*, 383 S.C. at 149, 678 S.E.2d at 811. The Tort Claims Act therefore does not, as Whetstone would have it, turn the State into a secondary or excess insurer with state funds allowed to be stacked on top of private insurance or serve as some sort of umbrella coverage for state employees.

Second, other provisions of the Tort Claim Act belie Whetstone’s attempt to hold both Campbell and the Office liable for the car accident. Under the Act, only one defendant—the public entity or the employee—may be liable. When an employee “commits a tort while acting within the scope of his official duty,” that employee “is not liable therefor except” when the employee’s conduct “constituted actual fraud, actual malice, intent to harm, or a crime involving moral turpitude.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(a), (b). Other than these narrow circumstances, the public entity is liable, and the Act “constitutes the *exclusive* remedy for any tort committed by an employee of a governmental entity.” *Id.* § 15-78-70(a) (emphasis added). Indeed, the fact that only

one—the employee or the public entity—party can be liable is the only possible conclusion from reading these two subsections. *Cf. Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 S.C. 548, 555, 799 S.E.2d 479, 483 (2017) (“It is axiomatic that statutory interpretation begins (and often ends) with the text of the statute in question.”); *Senate by & through Leatherman v. McMaster*, 425 S.C. 315, 322, 821 S.E.2d 908, 912 (2018) (statutes must be read harmoniously and to avoid having superfluous terms). And this is why the District of South Carolina has recognized that “[t]he doctrine of *respondeat superior* therefore is inapplicable to claims against South Carolina governmental entities or their employees. Governmental entities are vicariously liable for their employees’ torts only as provided by the statute; governmental entities are not additionally or alternatively liable under common-law vicarious liability doctrines.” *See Newkirk v. Enzor*, 240 F. Supp. 3d 426, 436 (D.S.C. 2017).

In this case, Whetstone never even hints that her accident with Campbell involved actual fraud, actual malice, intent to harm, or a crime involving moral turpitude. Understandably so, given that it was just that—an accident. By settling for \$100,000 with Campbell’s insurer, Whetstone effectively closed the door on a claim against the Office. That settlement is an implicit admission (at least for litigation purposes) that Campbell wasn’t acting within the scope of her employment (regardless of what Campbell’s purpose of the trip was when the accident occurred). After all, if Campbell was both negligent and within the scope of her employment, Whetstone could not possibly have recovered any judgment against Campbell because her “exclusive remedy” was under the Tort Claims Act.³ S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-70(a).

To let Whetstone turn around now and insist that she can sue the Office under the Tort

³ This is why the language from the Covenant Not to Execute, Policy Release, and Settlement Agreement that Whetstone did “not release any claim that [she] may have against any other parties” cannot save her claim. R. p. 46 (Opp’n to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. A). The Tort Claims Act does not give Whetstone a *respondeat superior* claim against the Office.

Claims Act is both inconsistent with the plain language of the Act and with basic principles of fairness. *Cf. Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 251, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1997) (adopting judicial estoppel for inconsistent positions of fact). In fact, Whetstone's admission on appeal that she "was aware that she may have a claim against" the Office "when she executed the covenant with" Campbell's insurer is effectively an acknowledgment that Whetstone was plotting to obtain a double recovery and circumvent the plain language of the Act. Br. of Appellant 9. The Court should not condone that scheme.

The Act's prohibition on a recovery from both the employee and public entity under these circumstances makes sense. It prevents a double recovery from the public fisc for the same injury and the same alleged conduct. Recall that Whetstone did not allege that the Office was in any way independently negligent, and she had already agreed to settle her claims against Campbell for \$100,000. If \$100,000 was not, in her mind, a sufficient sum for her injuries, her solution was to refuse to settle and to go court, rather than to take that guaranteed money and then bring a *respondeat superior* lawsuit against the Office.

CONCLUSION

The Court should affirm the circuit court's judgment.